From Fully Depleted Silicon-on-insulator Towards

Graphene-based Spintronic Applications

by

Guantong Zhou

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Doctor of Philosophy

Approved November 2023 by the Graduate Supervisory Committee:

Ivan Sanchez Esqueda, Chair Dragica Vasileska Sefaattin Tongay Trevor Thornton

ARIZONA STATE UNIVERSITY

December 2023

ABSTRACT

In the last few decades, extensive research efforts have been focused on scaling down silicon-based complementary metal-oxide semiconductor (CMOS) technology to enable the continuation of Moore's law. State-of-art CMOS includes fully depleted silicon-on-insulator (FDSOI) field-effect-transistors (FETs) with ultra-thin silicon channels (6 nm), as well as other three-dimensional (3D) device architectures like Fin-FETs, nanosheet FETs, etc. Significant research efforts have characterized these technologies towards various applications, and at different conditions including a wide range of temperatures from room temperature (300 K) down to cryogenic temperatures. Theoretical efforts have studied ultrascaled devices using Landauer theory to further understand their transport properties and predict their performance in the quasi-ballistic regime.

Further scaling of CMOS devices requires the introduction of new semiconducting channel materials, as now established by the research community. Here, two-dimensional (2D) semiconductors have emerged as a promising candidate to replace silicon for next-generation ultrascaled CMOS devices. These emerging 2D semiconductors also have applications beyond CMOS, for example in novel memory, neuromorphic, and spintronic devices. Graphene is a promising candidate for spintronic devices due to its outstanding spin transport properties as evidenced by numerous studies in non-local lateral spin valve (LSV) geometries. The essential components of graphene-based LSV, such as graphene FETs, metal-graphene contacts, and tunneling barrier, were individually investigated as part of this doctoral dissertation.

In this work, several contributions were made to these CMOS and beyond CMOS technologies. This includes comprehensive characterization and modeling of FDSOI nanoscale FETs from room temperature down to cryogenic temperatures. Using Landauer theory for nanoscale transistors, FDSOI devices were analyzed and modeled under quasiballistic operation. This was extended towards a virtual-source modeling approach that accounts for temperature-dependent quasiballistic transport and back-gate biasing effects. Additionally, graphene devices with ultrathin high-k gate dielectrics were investigated towards FETs, non-volatile memory, and spintronic devices. New contributions were made relating to charge trapping effects and their impact on graphene device electrostatics (Dirac voltage shifts) and transport properties (impact on mobility and conductivity). This work also studied contact resistance and tunneling effects using transfer length method (TLM) graphene FET structures and magnetic tunneling junction (MTJ) towards graphene-based LSV.

DEDICATION

This dissertation is dedicated to my family and my partner who have supported and encouraged me continuously throughout my education.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I am profoundly grateful for the support and encouragement I have received throughout my doctoral journey. Completing this dissertation would not have been possible without the unwavering support of numerous individuals who have played a pivotal role in shaping my academic and personal growth.

Firstly, I extend my appreciation to the members in my committee, Dr. Dragica Vasileska, Dr. Sefaattin Tongay, Dr. Trevor Thornton, and especially to my advisor Dr. Ivan Sanchez Esqueda, whose guidance and mentorship have been instrumental in shaping my academic journey. Your expertise, feedback, and willingness to invest in my development have been invaluable. I am also grateful to my lab mates as well as friends Naim Patoary, Jing Xie, Fahad Mamun, Sahra Afshari, and Mirembe Musisi Nkambwe for their camaraderie, stimulating discussions, and collaborative spirit. Your friendship and intellectual insights have enriched my doctoral experience at ASU immeasurably.

My heartfelt thanks go to my family for their unending love and support. I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to my partner, Hao Chen, whose unwavering love, encouragement, and understanding have been my constant source of strength. Your belief in me, even during the most challenging times, provided the motivation in countless of stressful and difficult days and nights. Thank you for sharing this journey with me.

This dissertation represents not only my individual efforts but also the collective influence of these remarkable individuals. I am honored to be a part of such a supportive network. Thank you for believing in me and helping me reach this significant milestone.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
LIST OF	FIGURESvii
CHAPT	ER
1	INTRODUCTION 1
	1.1 Background and Motivation1
2	CRYOGENIC CHARACTERIZATION AND ANALYSIS OF NANOSCALE
	SOI FETS
	2.1 FDSOI Technology7
	2.2 Device Parameters and Measurement Setups
	2.3 Measurement Data and Analysis10
	2.4 Landauer-based Model16
	2.5 Conclusion and Contribution
3	CURRENT-VOLTAGE CHARACTERIZATION OF GRAPHENE-FETS 20
	3.1. Graphene-based Applications
	3.2 Device Fabrication and Preparation
	3.3 Temperature Dependence
	3.4 Trapped Charge and the Hysteresis
4	SCATTERING MECHANISM OF THE GRAPHENE-BASED CHARGE
	TRAPPING DEVICES
	4.1 Charge Trapping Effect
	4.2 Measurement and Data Analysis

CHAPTER		Page
	4.3 Landauer-based Model Assist Analysis	37
	4.4 Conclusion and Contribution	42
5	ANALYSIS OF CONTACT RESISTANCE USING GRAPHENE-FET	S TLM
	STRUCTURE	. 44
	5.1 Importance of Contact Resistance	44
	5.2 Transfer Length Methods (TLM) Structure	47
	5.3 Temperature Dependence	58

Page

6	TUNNELING BARRIER INVESTIGATION	54
	6.1 Magnetic Tunneling Junction (MTJ) Structure	54
	6.2 Conclusion on Tunneling Barrier Investigation	58
7	CONCLUSION	60
REFERI	ENCES	65

LIST OF FIGURES

Figu	Ire Page
1	CMOS Technology Scaling Trends1
2	On/Off Ratio and Mobility of Different 2D Materials
3	3D Schematic of Lateral Spin Valve (LSV)5
4	Schematic and the Cross-Section View of the FDSOI Devices9
5	Id-Vg Characteristics at Different Temperatures10
6	Threshold Voltage, Subthreshold Swing, and On Current11
7	Extracted Different Components of Resistance
8	Modeled Mobility Fitting with the Data Points14
9	Temperature Dependence of Quasi-Ballistic Transport15
10	Modeled I_d -V _g Fitting with the Actual Data17
11	Fabrication Process of the Graphene FETs21
12	Picture and Illustration of the Graphene FETs
13	Id-Vgt Characteristics Across Various Temperatures
14	Conductivity as a Function of Carrier Density for the Graphene FETs24
15	Conductivity and Mobility in Graphene FETs for the Electron
16	I_d -V _g Characteristics Showing Hysteresis for the Graphene FETs26
17	Previous Research on the Graphene FET Memory Device
18	Previous Research on the Graphene FET Synaptic Device
19	I_d -V _g After Gate Pulses and the Change in Dirac Point and On Current32
20	Band Diagram of Charge Trapping Mechanism
21	Extracted Conductivity as a Function of the Carrier Density

Figure Page		
22	Closer Look on the Conductivity and the Change of the Dependency	
23	Conductivity and Mobility Degradation with Trapped Charge Density	
24	Modeled Conductivity and Mobility Fit with Data40	
25	Mean-Free-Path as a Function of the Trapped Charge Density41	
26	Illustration Showing Ohmic Contacts Resistance in LSV Devices	
27	Illustration Showing Resistance after Adding Tunneling Barrier45	
28	Illustration Showing Large Tunneling Barrier Resistance	
29	TLM Devices Picture and Structure Illustration	
30	Id-Vg of Each Channel Length	
31	Calculated Total Resistance	
32	Extracted Contact Resistance as a Function of Carrier Density	
33	Extracted Sheet Resistance and Mobility as a Function of Carrier Density	
34	Comparison Between Contact and Channel Resistance	
35	Temperature Dependence of the Sheet Resistance and Mobility	
36	Illustration and Pictures of the Tunneling Barrier	
37	Current of the TiO ₂ Tunneling Barrier	
38	Extracted Resistance of the TiO ₂ Tunneling Barrier	
39	Current of the hBN Tunneling Barrier	
40	Extracted Resistance of the hBN Tunneling Barrier	

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background and Motivation

The undergoing development of modern Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor Field-Effect-Transistor (MOSFET) technology to follow Moore's law trends, as shown in Fig. 1, has resulted in critical length reaching dimensions of a few nanometers. Unlike long-channel transistors where transport mainly obeys drift-diffusion¹, transport in short-channel devices is now approaching the quasi-ballistic or ballistic regime, which indicates that carriers undergo few or negligible scattering while transporting across the channel. Thus, it's now essential for electrical engineers to reframe our understanding of charge transport in state-



Fig. 1. Illustration shows the scaling trends of CMOS devices through the years that is getting hard to follow the Moore's Law

of-the-art nanoscale CMOS devices. This extends to applications where devices operate at cryogenic temperatures or under conditions that may result in charge-trapping effects to better understand their impact on device characteristics within this quasi-ballistic transport regime.

As shown in the Fig. 1, fully depleted silicon-on-insulator (FDSOI) is considered a state-of-art technology that was developed and scaled down to 22 nm CMOS nodes in recent years. FDSOI is suitable for applications that requires a balance between the power, performance, and cost because of its unique structure with a structurally isolated channel and its back-gate capabilities. Modern FDSOI with an ultra-thin silicon channel provides excellent electrostatic gate control, eliminating the need for significant doping in the channel region and mitigating variability due to random dopants as well as charged impurity scattering. Moreover, the isolation provided by the buried oxide (BOX) helps reduce the S/D capacitances and lowers source-to-drain leakage improving energy efficiency and performance of the transistor. Last but not the least, the threshold voltage of the FDSOI can be manipulated by applying a back-gate voltage under the BOX, which could enable the low power operation^{2,3}.

Significant research work has focused on FDSOI technologies with ultrathin silicon channels, including in both 28 nm and 22 nm CMOS nodes, towards cryogenic operation. For example, the temperature dependence of 28 nm FDSOI parameters down to cryogenic temperature was reported as well as the sensitivity of I-V characteristics to back-gate biasing by Becker *et al.*⁴. Moreover, the coupling between the front and the back gate was investigated down to cryogenic temperature for a 28 nm FDSOI⁵. The findings from these

studies suggested that mobility in short channel device is less sensitive to scattering effects at cryogenic temperature, which was attributed to quasi-ballistic transport. Even though these works provide good analysis on the cryogenic operation of FDSOI, the temperature dependence of quasi-ballistic transport in these short channel FDSOI has not been thoroughly studied. Thus, my PhD work studied nanoscale FDSOI MOSFETs, including the effects of back-gate biasing and channel length down to cryogenic temperatures. My research work then transitioned from ultra-thin FDSOI towards 2D material-based devices, individually focusing on the main components of graphene-based non-local LSV structures. Here, Landauer theory and similar models that were used on FDSOI were applied to analyze graphene-based 2D FETs.

An alternative to bulk semiconductors (e.g., silicon) as the main component of modern electronic technologies are emerging 2D materials such as transition metal dichalcogenides (TMD) and graphene. These materials have attracted many research interests in postsilicon era due to their unique electronic and transport properties. As shown in Fig. 2, TMD materials, such as MoS₂, can typically provide high ON/OFF ratios due to their moderate



Fig. 2. Carrier mobility versus current on/off ratio reported for typical 2D materials electronics⁶.

bandgap, which makes them suitable for CMOS logic devices. However, TMDs have relatively low mobility compared to the other 2D materials like black phosphorus (BP) as shown in the blue shaded region or compared to graphene as shown in green in Fig. 2⁶.

While graphene is not a semiconductor since it has zero bandgap and it's not a material that can replace silicon as the channel material in CMOS logic devices, it still has many other applications. For example, graphene has been used for interconnects⁷, biomedical application^{8–11}, and in flexible wearable electronic devices¹². Moreover, graphene-based devices have demonstrated much higher speeds than traditional silicon-based devices, making them an attractive option for high-frequency applications such as RF communications^{13,14}. Additionally, graphene is being explored for its potential use in memory and neuromorphic computing, a type of artificial intelligence that mimics the way the brain processes information¹⁵⁻¹⁸. These applications are all based on graphene's superior properties such as high mobility, as shown in Fig. 2, high thermal conductivity, high mechanical strength, low dimensionality. Graphene also exhibits long spin diffusion length, where spin information can travel over long distance without significant loss. Moreover, graphene also has a low spin-orbit coupling (SOC), which can maintain the spin coherence through a longer distance $^{19-21}$. Thus, graphene has a great potential to work as a channel material in the spintronic devices, such as non-local lateral spin valve (LSV) 22 .

LSV device consists of four contacts as shown in Fig. 3, where the two contacts on the two ends are nonmagnetic contacts and the two contacts in the middle are made with ferromagnetic metals, and there is a tunneling barrier underneath the ferromagnetic contacts.



Fig. 3. The structure of the non-local lateral spin valve (LSV) consists of the components of graphene-FET, TLM, and MTJ structure, which were all investigated.

During the operation of the LSV device, the current carrying the spin signal would inject through one side of the non-magnetic and magnetic contacts pair, and the spin would accumulate at the interface of ferromagnetic contact. Then, the spin would diffuse laterally through the channel from the injector contacts pair in both directions. The non-local spin signal will reach the other non-magnetic and magnetic contacts pair and get detected and measured while applying an in-plane magnetic field along the y-direction. This four terminal LSV structure measurement would reduce the background noise signal from the charge currents because there is no net charge flow between two ferromagnetic contacts.

As illustrated in Fig. 3, the LSV consists of several key components/functions that are worth investigating and that make up a large part of this dissertation. These include the electrical properties and gate tunability in graphene FETs, the resistance of non-magnetic contacts on graphene, and the resistance of tunneling junction on graphene. Moreover, it is essential to better understand the transport properties of very thin layer two-dimensional materials that serve as the LSV channel by doing the electrical characterization. Here, due

to the atomic thinness of the graphene channel, its transport properties can be severely impacted by impurities near the channel. Consequently, charge trapping effect were investigated in this work to gain a better understanding on the impact of such impurities. Additionally, to gain better understanding on the resistance and the electrical properties of the contacts and tunneling barriers, which are very important to resolve conductivity mismatch issue in spintronics, graphene-based transfer length method (TLM) and the magnetic tunneling junction (MTJ) devices were investigated as part of this reserach.

CHAPTER 2

Cryogenic Characterization and Analysis of Nanoscale FDSOI FETs

2.1 FDSOI Technology

With the continued downscaling of CMOS technologies, the channel in modern metaloxide-semiconductor field-effect-transistors (MOSFETs) is approaching a few nanometers in length. The channel length of the measured devices in this project ranges from 18 to 150 nm. Unlike long-channel devices, where transport can be described with a drift-diffusion formalism ¹, modern short-channel devices require a different formalism that accounts for quasi-ballistic transport^{23,24}. Thus, a quasi-ballistic model is necessary to analyze the transport properties of the nanoscale FDSOI MOSFETs studied in this work. For this purpose, I presented current voltage (I-V) measurements and analysis of FDSOI MOSFETs at various temperatures from 300 down to 10 K. Therefore, the purpose of this study is to establish the cryogenic transport properties of a modern nanoscale FDSOI CMOS technology, in the context of quasi-ballistic transport, given the growing interest of cryogenic nanoscale electronics for quantum computing applications ^{4,5,25–31}. Previous studies have explored temperature trends in the electrical characteristics of nanoscale MOSFETs, including a 28-nm FDSOI 4,5,26,27 and more recently a 22-nm FDSOI 28-30. For example, Beckers et al.⁴ reported the temperature dependence of MOSFET parameters down to cryogenic temperatures and the sensitivity of I-V characteristics to back-gate biasing in a 28-nm FDSOI. In Paz's work⁵, the coupling between front and back gates is explored down to 4.2 K for a 28-nm FDSOI. There, mobility was characterized for long and short channel devices, and short channel devices were less sensitive to temperature.

That result was attributed to quasi-ballistic transport, but no analysis of quasi-ballistic transport was presented. Recently, threshold voltage, ON-state current, transconductance, and low-frequency noise parameters ²⁸, as well as RF parameters²⁹ were studied in a 22-nm FDSOI as a function of temperature. While these studies provide a good description for cryogenic operation in FDSOI, the temperature-dependence of quasi-ballistic transport characteristics in nanoscale FDSOI MOSFETs has not been thoroughly studied.

This work presents new measurements and analysis of nanoscale FDSOI MOSFET electrical characteristics, including the effects of back-gate biasing and channel length over a wide range of temperatures from 300 down to 10 K. Based on transport theory of nanoscale transistors^{23,24}, I analyze their quasi-ballistic transport behavior as a function of temperature. The analysis of quasi-ballistic operation includes the effects of back-gate biasing, series resistance, and channel length. I observed that quasi-ballistic operation persists at cryogenic temperatures for FDSOI MOSFETs, where bulk devices show a more significant reduction in ballistic ratio. This is attributed in part to a smaller contribution from ionized impurity scattering at low temperatures in FDSOI devices due to lower doping in the channel compared to bulk.

Moreover, this work presents a virtual source (VS) compatible charge model that accounts for quasi-ballistic transport, back-gate biasing, and temperature. The model is experimentally validated against measured I-V characteristics using extracted parameters for mobility, series resistance, and threshold voltage. The model calculations are in good agreement with experimental I-V characteristics for all temperatures ranging from 300 to 10 K including the effect of back-gate bias.

2.2 Device Parameters and Measurement Setups

The N-MOSFET that characterized and measured in the study is the commercial 22 nm Fully Depleted SOI fabricated by GlobalFoundries. Two types of transistors were measured, which are enhanced gates (EG) with thicker gate oxide, and standard gate (SG) with thinner gate oxide. The schematic of the transistor and the typical cross-section views of the transistors are shown in Fig. 4 (a) and (b), where the channel length of these devices range from 18 to 150 nm, and the channel width are all 1 μ m. The thickness of buried oxide is 20 nm with a 6 nm thick Silicon channel²⁵.



Fig. 4. (a). Schematic of the NMOS Flip Well with enhanced gate device SLVT-N. (b). Typical cross-section view of NMOS and PMOS ©[2016] IEEE²⁵

Transfer characteristics were measured for the devices with different channel length for both types of transistors (EG: L = 60, 70, 80, 90, 100, 120, and 150 nm; SG: L = 18, 20,22, 24, 28, 32, and 40 nm) by sweeping the gate voltage (V_g) from -0.2 V to 1 V for the temperature from 10 K to 300 K (10, 40, 70, 150, 240, 300 K) with low drain voltage (V_{ds}) set to 0.1 V, and back gate voltage (V_{bg}) was set to five different levels (-2, -1, 0, 1, 2 V). Low V_{ds} was used in the measurement so that the self-heating is negligible due to the low operating power.

2.3 Measurement Data and Analysis

Fig. 5a shows the results for the transfer characteristics for the EG transistor with 90 nm channel length with the back gate voltage $V_{bg} = 0$ V. The y-axis (I_d) in the plot is in logarithmic scale so that it can reveal the temperature dependence of the subthreshold region more clearly. From 300 K to 10 K, the threshold voltages are increased, and the subthreshold slope (SS) are improved for both short and long channel FETs, which is due to the intrinsic temperature dependence of the current³². Fig. 5b is showing an I_d - V_g curves plotted in linear scale with a transconductance calculated by $g_m = \partial I_d / \partial V_g$. In the linear scale, the on-state current in strong inversion operation are easier to observe the temperature dependence, which higher on-current was observed at lower temperature. The transconductance is related to mobility, and Fig. 5b is showing that the transconductance



Fig. 5. (a) Measured drain current (I_d) versus gate voltage (V_g) for different temperatures and $V_d = 0.1$ V for EG FDSOI MOSFET. (b) Measured I_d (solid line) and transconductance (g_m) (dashed line) versus V_g . (c) I_d – V_g characteristics measured at 300 and 10 K with different back-gate voltage (V_{bg}).



Fig. 6. (a) Extracted threshold voltage (V_T) versus temperature (T). (b) Extracted SS versus temperature. (c) Extracted ON-state current (I_{ON}) versus temperature. The extractions of V_T , SS, and I_{ON} are shown for $V_{bg} = -1$, 0, and 1 V.

peak is improving while temperature decreasing. Fig. 5c plotted the I_d - V_g curves at 10 K and 300 K for the same device, but with different levels of back-gate bias varied from -2 to 2 V with 1 V increment. It's evident that the back-gate bias is having a significant impact on the I_d - V_g characteristics, and it induced a large threshold voltage (V_T) shifting towards a negative direction, which is corresponding to a reduction in V_T .

The threshold voltage (V_T) was extracted from the I_d - V_g curves at three levels of backgate bias with a fixed value of normalized drain current, where $I_d/W = 0.3 \ \mu A/\mu m$, and plotted in Fig. 6a. The change of V_T induced different back-gate bias was similar across different temperature levels. While the temperature dropped below 50 K, the V_T varies linearly with temperature with a small plateau. The threshold voltage (V_T) is increasing with lowering temperature is due to the carrier freeze out, where the electrons are confined in donors at a lower temperature. Then, the Subthreshold swing (SS) was extracted and plotted in Fig. 6b. SS is getting lower while having temperature decreasing, and the values were all remained slightly higher than the fundamental limits (~60 mV/dec at 300 K) for all temperature levels. In Fig. 6c, the on-current, which was extracted at $V_g = 1.5$ V, was plotted for three back-gate bias. Since the effect of back-gate bias is negligible on *SS*, the impact on the on-current can be traced back to the shifts in threshold.

To better understand the low-filed carrier transport and the resistance, I started with the drain current I_d expression given by

$$I_D = \frac{W}{L} \mu_{app} C_{inv} (V_G - V_T) V_{DS}$$
⁽¹⁾

 C_{inv} is the gate capacitance in strong inversion, which is approximately equal to the oxide capacitance C_{ox} . μ_{app} is apparent mobility, which is combined by effective mobility (μ_{eff}) and ballistic mobility (μ_{ball}) with Matthiessen's rule³³ as

$$\frac{1}{\mu_{app}} = \frac{1}{\mu_{eff}} + \frac{1}{\mu_{ball}} \tag{2}$$

where $\mu_{eff} = \frac{\lambda_0 v_T}{2K_B T/q}$ and $\mu_{ball} = \frac{L v_T}{2K_B T/q}$. The ballistic mobility (μ_{ball}) is dependent on

the channel length, and effective mobility (μ_{eff}) is not. Both mobility components are dependent on the temperature. λ in the formula is the mean-free path, and the unidirectional thermal velocity is $v_T = \sqrt{2k_BT/\pi m^*}$, where m^* represents the effective mass.

To eliminate the effect of series resistance (R_{SD}), V_{DS} in (1) is divided with I_D and combined with (2) to obtain the total resistance:

$$R_{TOT} = \frac{L}{W\mu_{eff}C_{inv}(V_g - V_t)} + \frac{2K_B T/q}{Wv_T C_{inv}(V_g - V_t)} + R_{SD}$$
(3)

This expression contains three components, where the first part of the right-hand side in (3) is effective resistance (R_{eff}), which is dependent with channel length L, and the second part is ballistic resistance (R_{ball}), where the channel length L was canceled out, and the last term is the source/drain series resistance (R_{sd}). The R_{TOT} calculated from the measured data



Fig. 7. (a) Total resistance (R_{TOT}) versus gate overdrive (i.e., $V_g - V_T$) for various channel lengths at 240 and 10 K. (b) ON-resistance ($R_{ON} = R_{TOT}$ at $V_g - V_T = 0.78$ V) versus channel length at various temperatures. (c) Extracted series resistance (R_{SD}) with and without contribution from channel ballistic resistance (R_{ball}) as a function of temperature. (d) Experimentally extracted R_{SD} (circles) versus $V_g - V_T$ at various temperatures and model fits (solid lines).

for the EG transistor for different temperature levels across various channel length are plotted in Fig. 7a. Then, the on-resistance (R_{ON}) can be extracted at a fixed $V_g - V_T = 0.78$ V and plotted in Fig. 7b as a function of channel length L for various temperatures from 10 K to 300 K. As shown in (3), the only term that is channel length dependent is R_{eff} , so that I can extrapolate the R_{ON} data to L=0 and obtain $R_{ball} + R_{sd}$, which is then plotted in Fig. 7c.

Furthermore, I calculated the R_{ball} for each temperature level and subtract it from R_{ball} + R_{sd} to isolate the series resistance R_{sd} , which is plotted in Fig. 7c with pink diamonds. It's evident that the R_{sd} is improved with reduced temperature, which is consistent with previous work²⁹. Fig. 7d plots R_{sd} as a function of $V_g - V_T$ at various temperature levels to investigate the gate voltage dependency of R_{sd} . The symbols are the measured data, and the solid lines were the empirical model given by $R_{sd}(V_g) = R_{sd0}/[1 + \alpha(V_g - V_T) + R_{ext}]^{34,35}$. While μ_{ball} can be calculated for each temperature level as a function of channel length, effective mobility μ_{eff} can be extracted for each temperature as the slope of *Ron* as a function of *L* from Fig. 7b based on (3). As shown in Fig. 8. a and b, which are the apparent mobility μ_{app} as a function of channel length *L* for EG (from 60 up to 150 nm) devices and SG (from 18 up to 40 nm) devices across various temperatures, the dashed lines are the μ_{eff} and μ_{ball} , where μ_{eff} is a constant throughout the different channel length. The solid line is the modeled μ_{app} obtained from (2), where it fits well to the extracted μ_{app} . As shown in both plots, the experimental μ_{app} are mainly distributed in the transient quasi-ballistic region. By comparing Fig. 8a and Fig. 8b, the SG devices with shorter channel length are further into the quasi-ballistic region towards left, while the EG devices with a longer channel length are only slightly into the quasi-ballistic region. Moreover, both EG and SG devices are showing an increase in μ_{app} while decreasing the temperature.



Fig. 8. Experimentally extracted (circles) and model calculations (lines) of apparent mobility (μ_{app}) versus channel length (*L*) for different temperatures for (a) EG FDSOI MOSFETs and (b) SG FDSOI. Dashed lines are the model based on 10 K.



Fig. 9. (a) Extractions of effective mobility (μ_{eff}) versus temperature for both SG and EG devices. (b) Extracted mean free path (λ) versus temperature for both SG and EG devices. (c) Ballistic ratio versus temperature for SG L = 24 nm FDSOI (black circles), EG L = 90 nm FDSOI (diamonds), and bulk Si MOSFET L = 30 nm (squares).

Then, I investigated the temperature dependence of the effective mobility μ_{eff} , which is plotted in Fig. 9a for both EG (L = 90 nm) and SG (L = 24 nm) devices. As the results shown, both devices are having the effective mobility μ_{eff} initially increase significantly with reducing the temperature down to around 100 K, which is largely contributed by the reduction of phonon scattering²³. While the temperature dropped down below 100K, this reduction of phonon scattering becomes less significant, and ionized impurity scattering may start having impact on the carrier transport. To further investigate the scattering mechanism, the experimental mean free path (λ) was extracted for both EG and SG devices from μ_{eff} and plotted in Fig. 9b. For the temperature dropping from 300 K to 100 K, λ is showing the same increasing trends as μ_{eff} , which is indicating the reduction of phonon scattering. While temperature reducing from 100 K to 10 K, λ decreases due to more significant impact from ionized impurity scattering.

The ballistic ratio was also investigated by calculating $\lambda/(\lambda + L)$ for both EG and SG devices and plotted in Fig. 9c. The ballistic ratio is ranged from 0 to 1, where 0 stand for $L \gg \lambda$ and corresponds to significant scattering in the channel, and 1 stand for $\lambda \gg L$ and

it indicates ballistic transport³⁶. Because SG device has shorter channel length (L = 24 nm) compared to EG device (L = 90 nm), the ballistic ratio is larger as shown in Fig. 9c. The temperature dependence of the ballistic ratio is showing the same trends as μ_{eff} while temperature dropping from 300 K to 100 K, where the phonon scattering is dominated and become less significant with temperature reducing. Ionized impurity scattering start becoming dominated when temperature is below 100 K, which leads to a reduction in the ballistic ratio. The ballistic ratio for a bulk silicon device³⁵ is also plotted and compared to the devices in this project. In the bulk Si device, the ballistic ratio drops significantly to 0 at low temperature T = 10 K, and this indicating that the ionized impurity scattering in the FDSOI is less severe at a low temperature compared to the bulk Si device. Moreover, unlike the FDSOI devices, where the peak of ballistic ratio appears around 100 K, the peak of bulk Si devices appears around 200 K, which is an indication of a more severe ionized impurity scattering. This is because the lower doping in the ultrathin channels in the FDSOI MOSFETs compared to the high doping in the channel of the bulk Si devices provided by halo implants.

2.4 Landauer-based Model

Virtual Source (VS) model was in to fit for FDSOI MOSFETs from room temperature to cryogenic temperatures. Drain current is given by

$$I = \frac{W}{L} \mu_{app} Q_{inv} (V_{ds} - I_d R_{sd})$$
(4)

This formula is like (1) with the effect of source-drain series resistance. To better modeling the effects of back-gate bias (V_{bg}) in the devices, I extend the empirical expression for the inverse charge density Q_{inv} to include V_{bg} :

$$Q_{inv} = \phi_t C_{inv} m \ln(1 + e^{\frac{V_g - (V_{T0} - \alpha V_{bg} - \delta V_{ds})}{m\phi_t}})$$
(5)

In (5), α , δ , and ϕ_t are all fitting parameters that is related to the effects of back-gate biasing V_{bg} and the drain-source voltage on the threshold voltage V_T . By combining (4) and (5), the drain current I_d can be calculated as a function of gate bias V_g . Thus, I can calculate the model for the EG device with L = 90 nm at $V_{ds} = 0.1$ V and $V_{bg} = -2, -1, 0, 1, \text{ and } 2$ V, and plotted the results along with the experimental data in Fig. 10 (a)-(f). The good fitting between the model and the experimental data in both weak and strong inversion region was shown for all the temperatures. There is a small discrepancy at a higher V_g region and it's



Fig. 10. Measured Id–Vg characteristics (red dots) in logarithm and linear scale and compared against model calculations (solid lines) for EGFD - SOI n-channel MOSFET with L = 90 nm, $W = 1 \mu m$. The experimental data and model fits are shown for five different back-gate voltages and for the following temperatures: (a) T = 300 K; (b) T = 240 K; (c) T = 150 K; (d) T = 70 K; (e) T = 40 K; and (f) T = 10 K.

more likely due to the lack of gate-voltage dependency for effective mobility in the model. And the larger discrepancies at a lower temperature indicating that the dominant scattering mechanisms, such as surface roughness, is having a larger gate-voltage dependence compared to the dominant scattering mechanisms at a higher temperature, which is phonon scattering.

2.5 Conclusion and Contribution

This chapter analyzes quasi-ballistic transport in nanoscale FDSOI MOSFETs at cryogenic temperatures down to 10 K including the effects of back-gate biasing. I_d-V_g characteristics are measured for standard as well as EG (SG and EG) devices with channel lengths ranging from 18 to 40 nm for SG and from 60 to 150 nm for EG. Important transistor electrical parameters and their modulation with back-gate bias are extracted and presented as a function of temperature down to 10 K. I analyze resistance by separating the components due to channel, ballistic, and series resistance as a function of channel length and temperature. From this analysis, I can extract series resistance and mobility. Analysis of mobility reveals the quasi-ballistic charge transport properties of FDSOI devices under test. Moreover, I extract mean free path and ballistic ratio and their dependence on temperature from 300 down to 10 K for SG and EG devices with different channel lengths. The temperature dependence shows the contribution from phonon and ionized impurity scattering. Compared to bulk Si MOSFETs, FDSOI devices reveal a smaller contribution from ionized impurity scattering at low temperatures as evidenced by a smaller reduction of the ballistic ratio (proportional to mobility) as temperature is reduced below 100 K. This is attributed to a lower doping concentration in the channel of FDSOI compared to bulk Si CMOS. Additionally, I demonstrate the application of a VS compact modeling approach for FDSOI MOSFETs at cryogenic temperatures. Here, I propose an extension to the expression for inversion charge density to account for the effects of temperature and backgate biasing on threshold voltage. Using an empirical model to account for the gate voltage dependence of series resistance and a model for apparent mobility based on Matthiessen's rule, I obtained very good agreements between calculations of drain current and experiments for temperatures ranging from 300 down to 10 K. The agreement between model calculations and data suggests that the VS modeling approach contains sufficient physics even in its compact mathematical formulation to maintain validity in its description of drain current of FDSOI MOSFETs down to cryogenic temperatures. This would beneficial the device analysis in the future research projects not only on Si based devices, but also on the devices based on novel materials such as graphene and TMDs.

CHAPTER 3

Current-Voltage Characterization of Graphene-FETs

3.1 Graphene-based Applications

Graphene emerged as a promising electronic material with exceptional properties including high electrical conductivity, mechanical strength, chemical stability, large surface area, etc. ^{8–10,37}. At the device-level, graphene field-effect transistors (GFETs) with high carrier mobility attracted considerable interest for high-frequency RF applications ³⁸. Its large surface-area-to-volume ratio makes it very sensitive to its surrounding environment and attractive for use in sensors ^{39,40}, and memory technology ^{41,42}. Additionally, graphene was recently explored for potential use in devices for neuromorphic computing, a type of computing architecture that mimics the structure and functionality of the brain ^{15,16}. In memory, sensing, and neuromorphic applications, the sensitivity of GFET characteristics to charge trapped in the vicinity of the graphene channel has been explored as a non-volatile mechanism to store information (memory devices) and/or to manipulate an internal device state variable (sensors and neuromorphic devices) ¹⁷. I noted that similar effects and applications have been reported with carbon nanotube devices ^{43–49}.

In this chapter, the investigation centered on the fabrication and examination of graphene-FET devices at various temperatures, with a primary focus on their transport properties and the impact of temperature on the electrical characteristics.

3.2 Device Fabrication and Preparation

Staring with a wafer with 300 nm SiO₂ and diced it into 1.5 x 1.5 cm substrate, positive photoresist was spin-coated following by exposing the bottom independent gate pattern

with the laser writer. After developing, 20 nm SiO₂ was dry etched with fluorine-based plasma to create a trend for the gate as shown below in Fig. 11a, which will help to lower the height of the gold gate above the substrate surface to improve the uniformity of atomic layer deposition (ALD) layers to avoid the gate leakage. Afterwards, 5 nm chromium (Cr) and 25 nm gold (Au) were deposited on the surface following by a 2 or 5 nm HfO₂ ALD as shown in Fig. 11b.

The monolayer CVD-grown graphene was purchased from GROLLTEX, which came on a copper film. The copper film was etched by ferric chloride (FeCl₃) with PMMA coated on the top, and after cleaning the PMMA/Graphene film in HCl for 30 mins and DI water for 1 hours, it was transfer onto the targeting substrate and then cleaned by the Acetone. Then, the PMMA/LOR/positive photoresist is coated on the substrate with PMMA acting as a sacrificial layer to protect the monolayer graphene from peeling away during the



Fig. 11. Fabrication process of the graphene-based charge trapping device.

fabrication process. The fluorine-based plasma dry etching was used to define the shape of the channel area, and this would not only etch the graphene outside the channel region, but it would also remove the HfO₂ film that covers the gold contact pads to ensure a good electrical connection for the measurements.

The drain and source contacts were then defined by photolithography following by a forming gas H₂/Ar annealing at 125 °C for 30 mins to ensure a good contacting quality. The last step is depositing 5 nm Cr and 25 nm Au with lift-off process. Since I was using photolithography and customized photomasks, 20 x 20 grids, which is 400 in total, of graphene FETs can be fabricated a time as shown in Fig. 12a. The enlarged picture of the channel area is showing in Fig. 12b, where the channel length is 10 μ m and width is 5 μ m. The structure and the measurement setup of this high-k gate dielectric FET is illustrated in



Fig. 12. a) picture of one 1.5 cm x 1.5 cm substrate with large area fabricated graphene FETs. b) Higher magnification image of graphene FET. c) The device structure illustration of the graphene FET.

Fig. 12c. The samples were in-situ annealed at 350 °C overnight to remove the hysteresis of the devices due to the interface impurities at the interface between the graphene and the high-k gate dielectric film.

3.3 Electrical Characterization and Temperature Dependence

The I_d - V_g measurements were taken at various temperature, where the gate voltage V_g was sweeping from -2 to 2 V with the drain voltage V_d set to 1 V. As shown in the Fig. 13, where the drain current is plotted as a function of the gate voltage across three different temperature levels (100 K, 200 K, and 300 K). To rule out the effect of the impurities, the Dirac point (V_{dirac}), which also refers to the charge neutrality point (CNP), which is the voltage level that the lowest current level occurs, of the IV curve at each temperature were aligned together. The current in the on-state region is showing a clear reduction with the



Fig. 13. Measured drain current (I_d) versus gate voltage (V_g) across various temperature levels (100 K, 200 K, 300 K) with aligned Dirac point (V_{dirac}) $V_d = 1$ V

temperature going from 100 K to 300 K, and this is indicating the phonon scattering is getting more dominated in the channel^{23,50-53}.

To further investigate into the transport properties of the graphene-FET, I extracted the conductivity σ from the experimental data by firstly calculate the conductance (*G*) from Id/Vds, then σ can be calculated from $\sigma = G \times (\frac{L}{W})$, where *L* is the channel length 10 nm, and *W* the channel width 5 nm. The unit of conductivity (σ) was then converted to the quantum of conductance (*i.e.*, $2q^2/h \approx 77 \,\mu S$) so that the quantitative results can be directly obtained as a function of carrier density (n_s) [22]. The carrier density (n_s) was estimated from $n_s = (C_{ox}/q) (V_g - V_{dir})$, where *q* is the electronic charge, and C_{ox} is the gate oxide capacitance per unit area. The conductivity was then plotted as a function of the sheet carrier density in Fig. 14. The rest of the analysis will be focusing on the electron



Fig. 14. Conductivity (σ) of the graphene-FET as a function of the carrier density (n_s)



Fig. 15. Conductivity (σ) and mobility (μ) of the electron in the graphene-FET as a function of the carrier density (n_s) in log-log scale.

side of the measurements because it's showing a better temperature dependence as shown in the Fig. 13, which corresponding to the positive V_g - V_{dirac} region.

The mobility (μ) of the graphene FET can be obtained from the conductivity (σ) with $\mu = \sigma_n/(qn_s)$ for each fixed sheet carrier density (n_s) level for the electron side, and both conductivity and mobility of the electron can be plotted as a function of the carrier density in log-log scale as shown in the Fig. 15. The results are showing the increase of the conductivity due to higher electron charge density, while this would lead to more scattering in the channel, and this would degrade the mobility of the device as shown in the second figure.

3.4 Trapped Charge and the Hysteresis

The Graphene FETs with two different thickness of HfO₂, which are 2 nm and 5 nm, were tested. The drain current (I_d) was measured as a function of the gate voltage (V_g), while applying a constant drain voltage (V_d) at four temperature levels from 10 K to 300 K.



Fig. 16. Measured Id–Vg for the Graphene FET device with a) 2nm and b) 5nm gate oxide at various temperature levels. Large hysteresis is observed in 5nm HfO₂ device.

The results for both transistors in Fig. 16 are showing some hysteresis for all different temperature levels. Moreover, the hysteresis in the device with thicker gate oxide is having an obviously larger hysteresis compared to the device with thinner gate oxide, and this is indicating that there is more interface trapped charges in the 5 nm HfO₂ devices that impact the carrier transport. Thus, it's important to understand the effects of the trapping charges in these graphene-based devices, and this trapped charge can be utilized potentially as memory device as shown in Fig. 17¹⁷ or the synaptic graphene-based FET as shown in Fig. 18¹⁸.



Fig. 17. Graphene based charge-trap flash memory that consists of gate oxide stacks to program and erase with the trap charges in the stacks as a memory window¹⁷.

Lee's group fabricated this graphene-based flash memory device that contain a highk/low-k/high-k oxide stacks, where the low-k layer is for trapping the charges. By applying a different gate pulse, either electrons or holes would be injected and trapped into the charge trapping layer as shown in Fig. 17b and d. This trapped charge would affect the transport properties of the device and would shift the position of the CNP towards the positive V_g side, which is mainly electrons storage, or towards negative side, which is holes storage correspondingly. The difference between the CNP of the erasing and programing is the storage window, as shown in Fig. 17f¹⁷.

This trapped charge mechanism can also be utilized to mimic the human's neuron system by using the Graphene FET as a synaptic device as shown in Fig. 18. The middle


Fig. 18. Graphene FET based synaptic device to mimic human's neuron system ¹⁸

top figure is showing the illustration of the device, where it consists of a pre-neuron and a post-neuron, and it's connected by the synapse, which is the graphene-based FET that can provide a weight factor ω . Similar as the memory device shown in Fig. 17, this graphene FET in the synaptic device is also utilizing the charge trapping mechanism. The left two figures in Fig. 18 are showing the energy band diagram, where when a different gate bias have been applied, the graphene FET can either be programed by trapping the electrons from the graphene channel into the traps at the interface or be erased by releasing the electrons from the traps back into the graphene channel. By manipulating the amount of the trapped charges at the interface, the hysteresis of the graphene transport curves can be adjusted as shown in the right two figures, and the size of the hysteresis are used as different weight factor ω in the synaptic system.

Prior investigations primarily revolved around modeling, characterization, and the utilization of CNP shifts in memory devices or their incorporation into neuromorphic computing devices. In my research, the primary emphasis was placed on the examination of a comparable charge trapping mechanism occurring at the interface, the subsequent scattering effects it induced, and the resulting impact on the transport properties of graphene-FET devices. This encompassed an analysis of parameters like conductivity, mobility, and mean-free-path in the low-field region.

CHAPTER 4

Scattering Mechanism of the Graphene-based Charge Trapping Devices

4.1 Charge Trapping Effects

The operation (writing and reading) of graphene-FET memory and neuromorphic devices can be driven through electrical stimulation (e.g., with the application of a pulsed terminal voltage, typically the gate) making it compatible with conventional electronic technology. A field-driven buildup of fixed charge, commonly known as charge trapping, results in charge redistribution inside the GFET with a measurable electrostatic impact in device operation. This impact is typically observed as a voltage shift in the current-voltage (I-V) characteristics of GFETs and quantified with shifts in Dirac voltage (a.k.a., the charge neutrality point)⁵⁴. While several studies have investigated charge-trapping-induced electrostatic effects in GFETs from shifts in Dirac point voltage $(V_{dir})^{17,18,54,55}$, the impact on charge transport is less commonly studied and far less understood. Nonetheless, trapped charge near the graphene channel and gate dielectric interface in GFETs is expected to enhance scattering with a detrimental impact on device performance³³. Consequently, this effect should be investigated in GFETs with few-nanometers-thin high-k dielectrics and independent gates, which are most likely to be used in ultrascaled devices with 2D channel materials^{56–58}. Many previous works are focused on GFETs with thick SiO₂ gate dielectrics on silicon substrates that are used as global back gate. 54,59,60

In this chapter, I investigated the effects of charge trapping on the transport properties of GFETs with high-k gate dielectrics. Specifically, devices with monolayer graphene channels and 5 nm HfO₂ gate dielectrics are pulsed at the gate terminal to stimulate charge trapping, and then tested by measuring their current-voltage (I-V) characteristics. I quantified the impact of charge trapping not only by electrostatic shifts in I-V response, but also by degradation in conductivity and mobility as a function of bias (i.e., as a function of sheet carrier density). The results show a degradation in conductivity and mobility as well as a transition in their dependence on sheet carrier density. Using a model based on Landauer transport theory^{33,36,61,62}, I correlated trapping-enhanced charged-impurity scattering to degradation in conductivity and mobility. Moreover, I quantified the reduction in carrier backscattering mean free path as a function of buildup in the density of charged impurities. Roughly, a buildup of 7×10^{12} cm⁻² in trapped charge resulted in 30% reduction of (charged-impurity) backscattering mean-free-path.

4.2 Measurement and Data Analysis

The charge trapping effect induced by a voltage pulse on the gate was investigated. The drain current (I_d) as a function of gate voltage (V_g) was measured before any pulses applied as the initial state of the device. To introduce the charge trapping, a gate pulse with $V_g = 2.5$ V was applied on the gate for 5 s, while having a drain voltage $V_{ds} = 1$ V. A total number of 20 pulses were applied and an I_d - V_g measurement was performed immediately after each pulse. The charge trapping effects were studied for the positive gate pulses at the room temperature condition, where the negative pulses conditions and the low temperature (below 200 K) measurements were also performed, but the shifting of CNP and the degradation of the on-state current were both negligible.



Fig. 19. a). Drain current (I_d) versus gate voltage (V_g) with $V_{ds} = 0.1$ V after 20 times 5 s 2.5 V positive voltage pulses applied on the gate. b). Top: Charge Neutrality Point (CNP) shifting after 20 number of pulses in 4 devices with the same parameters. Bottom: The deduction of the on-current level with number of gate pulses, extracted at a fixed V_{gt} level, where $V_g - V_{dir} = 1$ V.

In Fig. 19a, the I_d - V_g results after 20 pulses with the initial states were showing, where the light blue curve on the top is the initial condition before applying any gate pulses. The impact from the gate pulses on the CNP shifting and the current levels are evident. To better see the change on the CNP and on-state currents, the CNP value was subtracted by the CNP at the initial state to extract the change of CNP after each pulse, and the results have been shown in the top figure of Fig. 18b. The extracted results from four devices with the same configurations were shown and the shifting directions are towards the negative direction for all devices, and the difference between the devices are contributed from the variation from device to device. Another less obvious effect related to transport is a reduction in on-state current (I_{on}) associated with enhanced charged impurity scattering $^{63-}$

at a fixed $V_g - V_{dir} = 1$ V, and the value after each pulse was subtracted by the initial state I_{on} . The bottom figure of Fig. 19b is showing the change of the I_{on} as a function of pulse numbers for four devices. In the first five pulses, the changes of the I_{on} were more rapid compared to the change after pulse number 5, which indicates that most of the empty traps near the interface are filled and less carriers are getting trapped, and this led to less significant impact on the degradation.

The energy band diagram in Fig. 20a illustrates the alignment of graphene bands next to the 5 nm HfO₂ gate dielectric layer and metal gate (Au). Here I indicated estimates of the Au metal gate work function (~5.1 eV) ⁶⁶, affinity and bandgap for HfO₂ (~1.8 eV and ~5.9 eV respectively) ⁶⁷, as well as the affinity for graphene (~4.6 eV) ⁶⁸. As noted, these parameters result in a smaller energy barrier for injection of holes from metal gate into HfO₂ (~2.5 eV) compared to electrons (~3.3 eV). This could help explain why I observe a buildup of positive charge (determined from negative voltage shifts in I-V measurements) with application of positive V_g pulses. Fig. 20b illustrates the energy band diagram at the charge-trapping (pulse) biasing condition with large $V_g > 0$ V. As shown, I attribute the



Fig. 20. a). The band diagram of the devices with gate voltage $V_g = 0$ V (Initial state). b). The band diagram of the devices with applying a positive voltage pulse (5 s $V_g = 2.5$ V) on the gate. c). The charge trapped near the interface of graphene and high-k dielectric would introduce charge impurity scattering while electrons flowing through the channel.

buildup of positive charge to injection of holes from the metal gate to traps in the HfO₂ gate dielectric. The trapped charge introduces long-range scattering potentials that affect the transport of electrons in the graphene channel as illustrated in Fig. 20c. Ultimately, this reduced the mean-free-path (i.e., average distance traveled between scattering events) degrading conductivity and mobility.

To investigate the impact of the trapped charge on the conductivity (σ) of the device, I extracted the σ as mentioned in the previous chapter for the graphene initial study. The results of σ as a function of n_s for all 21 measurements are shown in Fig. 21, where the dependency of the conductivity on the carrier density was obviously impacted by the trapped charges with more gate pulses applied.

By looking closely on a smaller range of the carrier density on the electron conduction side from 1.5 to $3 \times 10^{13} \text{ cm}^{-2}$, the change of the dependency of conductivity on the



Fig. 21. The extracted conductivity (σ) as a function of sheet carrier density (n_s).

carrier density can be easier to identify as shown in Fig. 22a. The red symbol on the top is the initial state σ , which is approximately having a sub-linear dependency on the n_s (red dashed line is ~ $(n_s)^{1/2}$). With more gate pulses applied, where more trapped charges were introduced, the dependency on the n_s are start getting steeper and closer to the linear dependency (~ n_s). Charged impurity scattering is theoretically predicted to have a linear $\sigma(n_s)$ relationship for graphene ^{64,65,69}. To better see the change in the slope of these $\sigma(n_s)$ curves, the power exponents of the curves were extracted from the logarithmic figure and plotted in Fig. 22b as a function of the number of gate pulses. It's noticeable that at the initial state, the dependency is close to ~ $(n_s)^{1/2}$ sub-linear at 0.52, and with more gate voltage pulses applied, the power exponent starts increasing from 0.52 to 0.6 after 6 pulses, indicating that the dependency is getting closer to linear (~ n_s), and some scattering mechanism was induced by the trapped charge and getting more dominated with more



Fig. 22. a). The change of conductivity (σ) dependency on the sheet carrier density (n_s) with the dependency initially from ~ (n_s)^{1/2} and getting closer to linear. b). The extracted power exponents for $\sigma_n(n_s)$ after each pulse versus the number of pulses.

applied pulses, and it starts to limit the conductivity of the carriers in the channel. This same trend was extracted and observed in the other devices.

I further investigate the degradation of the conductivity and the mobility due to the induced trapped charge. The mobility (μ) was obtained with $\mu = \sigma_n/(qn_s)$. By having the amount of the CNP shifting from ($V_{dir} - V_{initial}$), the density of the trapped charge density (N_T) can be estimated with the $N_T = (C_{ox}/q)(V_{dir} - V_{initial})$. Both conductivity and mobility were extracted for the measurements after each pulse at a fixed carrier density level $n_s = 1.88 \times 10^{13} \text{ cm}^{-2}$, which is corresponding to $V_g - V_{dir} = 1 \text{ V}$. Fig. 23 is showing the results of extracted mobility and conductivity as a function of trapped charge density. It's evident that more gate pulses induced higher density of trapped charge, and it's degrading both conductivity and mobility. This is another indication that the trapped



Fig. 23. The degradation of conductivity (left) and mobility (right) at a fixed V_{gt} as a function of the trapped charge density (N_T).

charges near the interface introduced more scattering and it's getting more dominated to limit the carrier transport.

4.3 Landauer-based Model Assist Analysis

To understand more on the scattering mechanism associated with the charge trapping, the model that was used in the first FDSOI project was also applied here. This modeling analysis is based on Landauer approach, where drain current can be expressed as^{62,70–72}

$$I_d = \frac{2q}{h} \int M(E)T(E)[f_S(E) - f_D(E)]dE$$
(1)

Where M(E) is the energy dependent density of modes in the channel and it's obtained from the band structure of graphene as $M(E) = 4W|E|/(hv_F)$, where W is the channel width and v_F is the constant electron velocity ($\approx 10^8 \text{ cm/s}$)^{33,73}. T(E) is the transmission coefficient and $T(E) = \lambda(E)/[\lambda(E) + L]$, where L is the channel length, and $\lambda(E)$ is the energy dependent backscattering mean free path⁷⁴. The applied bias on the drain and source contribute to the fermi functions difference, which is denoted by $f_S(E) - f_D(E)$. This expression can be simplified with Taylor series expansion due to low field transport based on the near equilibrium approximation that $f_S(E) - f_D(E) \approx (-\partial f/\partial E)(qV_{ds})$. The formula (1) can be re-written, and the conductance can be obtained as

$$G = \frac{I_d}{V_{ds}} = \frac{2q^2}{h} \int \frac{\lambda(E)}{\lambda(E) + L} \left(\frac{4WE}{hv_F}\right) \left(-\frac{\partial f}{\partial E}\right) dE$$
(2)

There are two types of carrier transports were considered, which includes ballistic transport, where T = 1 due to $L >> \lambda$; and diffusive transport, where $T = \lambda/L$. From the conductivity equation $\sigma = G * L/W$, the ballistic conductivity (σ_{ball}) can be expressed as

$$\sigma_{ball} = L\left(\frac{2q^2}{h}\right) \left(\frac{4k_B T_L}{hv_F}\right) F_0(\eta_F)$$
(3)

where F_0 is the Fermi-Dirac integrals of order 0. The general format of Fermi integrals can be defined as shown in ⁷⁵:

$$F_i(\eta_F) \equiv \frac{1}{\Gamma(i+1)} \int_0^\infty \frac{\varepsilon^i d\varepsilon}{1 + \exp(\varepsilon - \eta_F)}$$
(4)

In formula (4), *i* is the order of the Fermi-Dirac integral. The gamma Γ is the factorial function, where $\Gamma(n) = (n - 1)!$. ε and η_F are defined as $\varepsilon = (E - E_C)/k_BT$, and $\eta_F \equiv (E_F - E_C)/k_BT_L$.

The devices are mainly operating in the diffusive transport regime instead of ballistic transport, which means the transport is limited by the scattering. Two types of scattering were considered in the model, the first one is charged impurity scattering (ci), which is impacted by the induced trapped charge in the device, and the second scattering is the short-range scattering (sr), which is mainly induced by the defects in the graphene and the lattice imperfections. As mentioned earlier, the transmission coefficient will be in the diffusive transport case with the impact of scattering, that the coefficient will be $T = \lambda/L$. And this energy dependent $\lambda(E)$ can be modeled with the power law function^{33,74,76}, $\lambda_0(E/K_BT_L)^s$, where λ_0 is the fitting parameter, and *s* is the exponential factor determined by the dimensionality of the scattering mechanism, which is dependent on the proportionality to the density of the states (s = 1 for charge impurity scattering and s = -1 for short-range scattering). Thus, the $\lambda(E)$ can be expressed independently for each of the scattering mechanism, and after putting it back to the formula (2), the derived charge impurity limited conductivity (σ_{ci}) and short-range limited conductivity (σ_{sr}) can be written as

$$\sigma_{ci} = \lambda_{0ci} \left(\frac{2q^2}{h}\right) \left(\frac{4k_B T_L}{h v_F}\right) F_1(\eta_F)$$
(5)

$$\sigma_{sr} = \lambda_{0sr} \left(\frac{2q^2}{h}\right) \left(\frac{4k_B T_L}{h v_F}\right) F_{-1}(\eta_F)$$
⁽⁶⁾

Carrier density (n_s) can be modeled with the fermi function and the density of the states by

$$n_s(E_F) = \int D(E)f(E)dE = \frac{2}{\pi} \left(\frac{k_B T_L}{h \nu_F}\right)^2 F_1(\eta)$$
(7)

The total modeled conductivity can be obtained by Matthiessen's rule as $1/\sigma = 1/\sigma_{ball} + 1/\sigma_{ci} + 1/\sigma_{sr}$. Fig. 24a plots σ versus n_s where symbols are the experimental data and lines are the model calculations. The individual diffusive components (i.e., σ_{ci} and σ_{sr}) are shown with dashed lines, and the total conductivity (σ) is shows as solid lines. The data was fitted prior to any charge-trapping pulses as well as after various consecutive voltage pulses (arrows indicate change in conductivity with more pulses). The fit to experimental data was accomplished by adjusting the charged-impurity backscattering mean free path fitting parameter λ_{oci} . Thus, the effect is attributed to a reduction in σ_{ci} , which is consistent with transport degradation due to trapped charge buildup near the graphene channel/insulator interface resulting from voltage pulses on the gate. In the fitting process, it confirms that parameter λ_{oci} is inversely proportional to trapped charge density (n_T) obtained from shifts in Dirac voltage. A small change (increase) in σ_{sr} was noted and it was also introduced to better fit the data (especially for large n_s), but here I focus on the more significant effects of charged impurity scattering. Nonetheless, the physical origin of

this adjustment may be from self-healing/annealing of defects and should be studied further⁷⁷.

With this modeling approach I can better explain my experimental observations regarding the dependence of conductivity on sheet carrier density, $\sigma(n_s)$. Firstly, the observed square-root dependence prior to pulsing is explained as the combined effect of charged-impurity and short-range scattering which individually have square-root and linear dependence on n_s respectively. As shown in Fig. 24a, the experimental values fall in a range of n_s where I have a transition from σ_{ci} to σ_{sr} as the dominant scattering effect. Next, with increasing number of pulses (increasing density of charged impurities) a more significant contribution from σ_{ci} makes the overall conductivity move closer towards a linear dependence on n_s . I do not observe a transition to completely linear dependence (i.e.,



Fig. 24. a). modeled conductivity (colored solid lines) limited by charge impurity scattering (σ_{ci} – colored dashed lines) and short-range scattering (σ_{sr} – black dashed line), and b). modeled mobility (colored solid lines) limited by μ_{ci} (colored dashed lines) and short-range scattering μ_{sr} (black dashed line), fitted to the experimental data (symbols) before and after 12 gate voltage pulses.

 $\sigma \sim n_s$) since short-range scattering effects continue to play a role on conductivity, especially for large n_s^{78-80} . Nonetheless, with the more dominant contribution from σ_{ci} , the transition to a short-range scattering dominated conductivity is pushed to larger n_s^{33} .

The mobility can be obtained as $\mu = \sigma/qn_s$. Fig. 24b plots μ versus n_s where symbols are the experimental data and lines are the model calculations. The individual components $(\mu_{ci} \text{ and } \mu_{sr})$ are shown with dashed lines, and the total mobility obtained using Matthiessen's rule $(1/\mu = 1/\mu_{ci} + 1/\mu_{sr})$ is shows as solid lines. To obtain further insight on the impact of charged impurities on the transport properties of the graphene FETs I extract the corresponding energy-averaged backscattering mean free path as ³³

$$\langle \lambda_{ci}(E) \rangle = \frac{\int M(E)\lambda_{ci}(E) \left(-\frac{\partial f}{\partial E}\right) dE}{\int M(E) \left(-\frac{\partial f}{\partial E}\right) dE}.$$
(5)



Fig. 25. Calculated mean-free-path ($\langle \lambda_{ci}(E) \rangle$) as a function of the trapped charge buildup.

This represents a weighted average of the mean-free-path over the Fermi-window (i.e., $-\partial f/\partial E$) centered around the (bias-dependent) Fermi level. The calculation of $\langle \lambda_{ci}(E) \rangle$ is shown in Fig. 25 as a function of trapped charge buildup (Δn_T) for fixed sheet carrier density of $n_s = 2 \times 10^{13}$ cm⁻². This corresponds to $V_g - V_{dir} \approx 1$ V. As shown, the average mean-free path (corresponding to charged-impurity scattering) decreases from about 55 nm down to about 38 nm for a trapped charge buildup of ~7×10¹² cm⁻² at this biasing condition.

4.4 Conclusion and Contribution

In this chapter, I reported on experimental and theoretical analysis of charge trapping effect in graphene field effect transistors (GFETs) with ultrascaled 5 nm high-k gate dielectrics HfO₂. Charge-trapping experiments based on applying the gate voltage pulses are used to characterize the electrostatic effects, which lead to the shifts in voltage at the Dirac point, as well as transport degradation, which shown by the reduction in on-state current, attributed to buildup of charged impurities, which is induced by the trapped charge inside a 5 nm HfO₂ gate dielectric interfacing the graphene channel. Theoretical analysis based on the Landauer equation allows correlating trapping-enhanced charged-impurity scattering to degradation in the transport properties such as conductivity, mobility, and mean-free-path. This work also provides new insights about the significance of chargedimpurities on the reliability and performance of graphene devices with high-k gate dielectrics that operate based on charge-trapping mechanisms or that simply have a high-k oxide layer adjacent to a graphene channel. Specifically, I establish that with gate-voltage pulsing the well-known shifts in Dirac voltage are accompanied by a significant degradation in conductivity and mobility as well as a transition towards dominance of charge impurity scattering as evidenced by their dependence on sheet carrier density. This is crucial for devices such as graphene-based non-volatile memory, memristive and neuromorphic devices, graphene FETs, and many others.

Chapter 5

Analysis of Contact Resistance Using Graphene FETs TLM Structure

5.1 Importance of Contact Resistance

The formation of an ohmic contact involves a direct connection between a ferromagnetic metal and the semiconductor channel material. However, this ohmic contact at the junction can compromise the efficiency of spin injection and polarization, a phenomenon known as the conductivity mismatch. The root of this conductivity mismatch problem lies in the substantial difference in conductivity between ferromagnetic metals and semiconductors. This can be illustrated with the circuit shown in Fig. 26⁸¹, where the resistances of two ferromagnetic contacts and the semiconductor can be categorized into two distinct channels. The top and bottom channels correspond to spin-up and spin-down polarization, respectively.



Fig. 26. Resistance of ohmic contacts for spin-up and spin-down channels without tunneling barriers.

While the resistance of the semiconductor typically exceeds that of ferromagnetic metals, the bulk of the voltage drop occurs within the semiconductor region. Consequently, the spin-dependent resistance, emanating from the ferromagnetic contacts, has a minimal impact on the current within the spin-up and spin-down channels. Here, the primary determinant of current is the spin-independent resistance of the semiconductor.

To address the issue of conductivity mismatch, an effective approach involves incorporating a tunneling barrier at the interfaces of the ferromagnetic metal and semiconductor junction, rather than relying on ohmic contacts. This tunneling barrier typically takes the form of an ultrathin insulator, which introduces a metal/semiconductor Schottky barrier at the interface. Although the tunnel resistance (contact resistance) itself is inherently spin-dependent, it becomes intricately linked with the adjacent ferromagnetic metals.

As a result, when the spin-dependent contact resistance is comparable or slightly higher than the semiconductor resistance, the cumulative resistances for the spin-up and spindown channels exhibit significant differences. This configuration ultimately ensures that the total current passing through the structure becomes spin-polarized, a phenomenon illustrated in Fig. 27. This innovative approach effectively overcomes the conductivity mismatch problem and holds promise for advancing the efficiency and performance of spintronic devices.



Fig. 27. Resistance of spin-up and spin-down channels with tunneling barriers resistance.

However, when the contact resistance surpasses a critical threshold compared to the conductor resistance, it poses a potential limitation on the flow of carriers within the channel. This condition can be visually depicted in Fig. 28, where R_{SF} represents the influence of spin flip. In situations where the contact resistance is excessively large, the

resistance of both the ferromagnetic materials and the semiconductor can be effectively disregarded. The spin-flip resistance can be approximated as a short circuit under these circumstances. While this configuration doesn't significantly affect the parallel arrangement, where the spin polarization remains consistent on both sides of the semiconductor, it has a notable impact in the anti-parallel configuration.



Fig. 28. Resistance of spin-up and spin-down channels with large tunneling barriers resistance.

In the anti-parallel configuration, this short circuit disrupts the spin polarization, resulting in the combined resistance for both the parallel and anti-parallel orientations being nearly identical. This phenomenon renders the tunnel magnetoresistance (TMR) effectively zero. TMR is calculated using the formula $(R_{AP}-R_P)/R_P$, where R_{AP} represents the measured resistance during the anti-parallel configuration, and R_P denotes the measured resistance during the parallel configuration. Ideally, TMR should yield values significantly greater than a few percent, rather than approaching zero. This measure is indicative of the effectiveness of spin polarization within the channel, and its optimization is critical for the overall performance of spintronic devices⁸².

Hence, the contact resistance assumes a critical role and necessitates meticulous study and optimization. It should be tailored to match or slightly exceed the magnitude of the resistance within the semiconductor channel, ensuring the creation of an efficient tunneling barrier. Several key components were investigated to address this issue, including the study of contact resistance in ohmic contacts, the channel resistance, and the resistance after the incorporation of a tunneling barrier. These investigations collectively form the foundation for establishing efficient spintronic devices, where the careful management of contact resistance plays a pivotal role in achieving desired performance and characteristics.

5.2 Transfer Length Methods (TLM) Structure

Using the transfer length methods, which involves electrical measurements of the same channel with varying channel lengths, provides a powerful tool for extracting crucial parameters of the device. This method enables the extraction of contact resistance, channel resistance, and mobility, offering valuable insights into the device's behavior and performance.

In our study, we implemented a TLM structure featuring a monolayer graphene channel and a 5 nm HfO₂ insulator, as illustrated in Fig. 29. The contacts utilized in this structure are non-magnetic and consist of 5 nm Cr and 35 nm Au. These contacts were directly



Fig. 29. a. Microscopy picture of the TLM structure based on graphene with 5 nm HfO₂. b. Schematic illustration of the TLM structure.

deposited onto the graphene channel to establish an ohmic contact. The device itself encompasses three distinct channel lengths, measuring $3 \mu m$, $5 \mu m$, and $8 \mu m$, respectively.

The I_d - V_g measurements for each channel length condition were performed at various temperature levels from cryogenic temperature 10 K to room temperature 300K, where the drain voltage is at a fixed value $V_d = 1$ V. The drain current was normalized to the width of the electrodes, which is 8 µm. The normalized drain current at room temperature T =300 K was plotted as a function of the aligned gate voltage (V_{gt}) as shown in Fig. 30 for all three channel length conditions. As the channel length increases, we observe a corresponding decrease in the current level. This decrease in current serves as a clear indicator of the rising resistance within the channel. Longer channel lengths inherently result in increased resistance, a fundamental relationship that underscores the importance



Fig. 30. Normalized drain current I_d as a function of aligned gate voltage $V_g - V_{min}(V_{gt})$ at room temperature T=300 K with $V_d=1$ V across three different channel length.

of channel length in determining the device's electrical behavior. The channel resistance is then calculated for each channel length at five different V_{gt} levels as shown by the colored dashed lines in Fig. 30a ranging from $V_{gt} = 0.8$ V to 1.2 V. Then, the resistance at each V_{gt} level was plotted as a function of channel length as shown in Fig. 31.



Fig. 31. Normalized resistance was calculated for three channel length at different V_{gt} levels, and plotted as a function of channel length, the contact resistance can be extracted.

To extract the contact resistance, we employ the resistance formula $R_{total} = R_{sh} * L + R_c$, where R_{sh} represents the sheet resistance of the graphene channel and R_c is the normalized contact resistance of the device. By extrapolating the resistance as a function of the channel length to the y axis where L = 0, we can determine the contact resistance at each V_{gt} level. This estimation is conducted under different sheet carrier densities, which are represented by $n_s = \frac{C_{ox}}{q}(V_g - V_{dirac})$. These values of contact resistance at various V_{gt}



Fig. 32. The extracted contact resistance and the specific contact resistance at room temperature T = 300 K as a function of the sheet carrier density, which correspond to five different V_{gt} levels.

levels and sheet carrier densities are then plotted as a function of sheet carrier density, depicted by the blue curve in Fig. 32. It's evident from the plot that the contact resistance decreases as the sheet carrier density increases, primarily due to the improved conductivity associated with higher carrier concentrations. This phenomenon underscores the crucial role of carrier density in shaping the behavior of the contact resistance.

Furthermore, we evaluated the specific contact resistance (R_{sp}) , calculated using the formula $R_{sp} = R_c * W * \frac{A}{L}$, where R_c represents the contact resistance normalized to the width. The results of this calculation were plotted as the function of sheet carrier density, and these values are represented by the orange curve in Fig. 32.

In the analysis, the sheet resistance of the channel is determined by calculating the slope of each curve in Fig. 31. Additionally, mobility, after factoring out the influence of contact



Fig. 33. The extracted sheet resistance of the channel at room temperature T = 300 K and the mobility as a function of the sheet carrier density.

resistance, is calculated using the equation $\mu = \frac{1}{qn_sR_{sh}}$ for each fixed sheet carrier density level. The results are presented in Fig. 33, where the sheet resistance is represented in blue, and the mobility is depicted in orange as a function of carrier density. The sheet resistance exhibits a decline as carrier density increases, reflecting the improvement in conductivity with a higher carrier concentration. In contrast, the mobility of the channel decreases as carrier density rises, indicating increased scattering due to the greater number of carriers. This observation emphasizes that the effect of elevated sheet carrier density on enhancing conductivity outweighs the impact of increased scattering.

The actual graphene channel resistance at each channel length can be calculated by using total resistance subtracted by the extracted contact resistance at each channel length. In Fig. 34, the graphene channel resistance is plotted as a function of the sheet carrier



Fig. 34. The comparison between the ohmic contact resistance level and the graphene channel resistance levels at each different channel length.

density along with the level of the contact resistance. It's evident that the level of channel resistance is notably higher than the contact resistance observed in ohmic contacts lacking an insulator as a tunneling barrier. As mentioned in the previous section, this difference in resistance gives rise to the conductivity mismatch issue, which, in turn, significantly degrade the efficiency of spin injection the retention of spin information in LSV devices.

Consequently, the addition of a tunneling barrier becomes imperative to transform the ohmic contact into a Schottky barrier. Furthermore, it's essential to ensure that the contact resistance is adjusted to a level that aligns closely with the channel resistance. This critical aspect will be explored further in the next chapter.

5.3 Temperature Dependence

The same set of measurements was conducted across a range of temperature levels from 10 K to 300 K. The methods used earlier allowed for the extraction of sheet resistance and mobility at each temperature level, and the results have been visualized in Fig. 35.



Fig. 35. The comparison between the ohmic contact resistance level and the graphene channel resistance levels at each different channel length.

Notably, the mobility demonstrates an upward trend as the temperature decreases. This phenomenon can be attributed to reduced phonon scattering within the channel, a conclusion consistent with our findings in the case of ultra-thin FDSOI devices. The improved mobility at lower temperatures also contributes to a reduction in the sheet resistance of the channel. This observation underscores the importance of temperature in shaping the electrical characteristics of the device, with lower temperatures facilitating more efficient charge transport and less scattering-induced resistance.

Chapter 6

Tunneling Barrier Investigation

6.1 Magnetic Tunneling Junction (MTJ) Structure

The magnetic tunneling junction (MTJ) devices, which consists of the tunneling barriers sandwiched by two ferromagnetic contacts in between as shown in Fig. 36a, provide an effective means to investigate the contact resistance of the tunneling barrier.



Fig. 36. a. The test structure for the contract resistance of the MTJ. b. The microscopy photo of the MTJ structure with Co contacts and 1nm TiO₂ tunneling barrier. c. The photo of the MTJ device with Co contacts and a few layers hBN as tunneling barrier.

Typical materials employed as tunneling barriers in spintronic devices encompass Al₂O₃, MgO, TiO₂, and hexagonal Boron Nitride (hBN). These materials are widely utilized due to their desirable properties in facilitating tunneling and spin-polarized transport. In addition, commonly used materials for the ferromagnetic contacts include Cobalt (Co), Iron (Fe), and Permalloy (Ni₈₁Fe₁₉), which are selected for their favorable magnetic characteristics.

In my research, I specifically investigated MTJ devices featuring Cobalt (Co) contacts with Titanium dioxide (TiO₂) and hBN as the tunneling barriers. These configurations,



Fig. 37. Current Density as a function of voltage applied on the junction at various temperature levels for the MTJ with TiO2 as tunneling barrier.

depicted in Fig. 36 b and c, served as the focal points of our study, allowing for a detailed exploration of contact resistance.

The widths of the top and bottom electrodes are intentionally varied, with the bottom electrode measuring 1 μ m for the TiO₂ device (3 μ m for the hBN device), while the top electrode is 3 μ m for the TiO₂ device (2 μ m for the hBN device). This difference in electrode width serves a specific purpose: to induce distinct coercivity levels in these contacts within the LSV devices. Coercivity determines the external in-plane magnetic field required to switch the magnetic orientation in these contacts. By having different coercivity levels, we create conditions for achieving either parallel or antiparallel configurations that correspond to the spin orientations in the two contacts as we sweep the external magnetic field. This feature is of paramount importance in the functionality of



Fig. 38. The total resistance of the junction extracted at a fixed voltage level 0.7 V for 6 different devices.

LSV devices, as it facilitates the control and manipulation of spin orientations. Moreover, differing coercivity can also be achieved by utilizing different ferromagnetic materials for the top and bottom electrodes. For example, varying coercivity levels have been realized by constructing the top electrode with Cobalt (Co) and the bottom electrode with Iron (Fe) ⁸². This strategic use of materials allows for further tailoring of the magnetic behavior of the device to meet specific requirements and objectives.

The electrical measurements I_d - V_g were performed on both MTJ devices at various temperatures to extract the total resistance across the junction with the materials as the tunneling junction. The I_d - V_g results at three different temperature levels (100 K, 200 K and 300 K) for the MTJ with the 1 nm TiO₂ are plotted in Fig. 37. Subsequently, the total resistance of the junction was determined at a fixed voltage level (V = 0.7 V) and plotted in Fig. 38 as a function of the temperature for 6 devices. Notably, the total resistances of



Fig. 39. Current as a function of voltage applied on the junction at various temperature levels for the MTJ with hBN as tunneling barrier.

the junctions are distributed around 500 ohms for devices incorporating 1 nm TiO_2 tunneling barrier and 1µm width contact.

Fig. 39 is presenting the measured current as a function of the voltage applied on the hBN MTJ device for four temperature levels from 10 K to 300 K. The total resistance across the junction was extracted for each temperature at a fixed voltage level at V = 6 V. Subsequently, the extracted resistances are depicted in Fig. 40, and it's worth noting that the resistance levels are several orders of magnitude higher compared to the MTJ device featuring a 1 nm TiO₂ tunneling barrier.

There are several potential explanations for this marked difference. The first reason pertains to the quality of the junction and the hBN flake, which may not be flawless, and the contacts may not be perfectly clean. The second possible factor contributing to the higher resistance is the thickness of the hBN flake, which has been confirmed to be around



Fig. 40. The total resistance of the junction extracted at a fixed voltage level 6 V.

10 nm through AFM analysis. This thickness equates to approximately 26 layers of hBN, and it is likely the primary factor responsible for the significantly elevated resistance observed in the junction compared to the 1 nm TiO₂ configuration.

6.2 Conclusion on Tunneling Barrier Investigation

As observed in Fig.34, the contact resistance with the ohmic contact is approximately 0.15 kohms, a value significantly lower than the graphene channel resistance. This difference gives rise to the conductivity mismatch issue, which can be effectively resolved by introducing a tunneling barrier beneath the ferromagnetic contacts to enhance spin injection efficiency.

In the specific case of a channel length of 8 μ m, the channel resistance approaches 0.6 kohms. To rectify the mismatch issue, the tunneling barrier should offer a resistance close to 0.5 kohms. Hence, TiO₂ emerges as a superior choice for the tunneling barrier compared to hBN for several reasons. First and foremost, a 1 nm TiO₂ barrier provides a resistance

of approximately 0.5 kohms, aligning perfectly with the 8 μ m graphene channel resistance and effectively mitigating the conductivity mismatch.

Secondly, the fabrication process for TiO₂ involves metal deposition or sputtering, enabling precise control over the resulting thickness using specialized equipment. In contrast, hBN presents greater challenges in terms of fabrication and controlling the number of layers in the tunneling barrier, particularly within the current laboratory setup.

Therefore, TiO₂ stands out as the superior choice for a tunneling barrier, offering advantages in both contact resistance and fabrication control, ultimately addressing the conductivity mismatch issue in LSV devices more effectively than hBN.

CHAPTER 7

CONCLUSION

Over the past seven decades, silicon has been the key component of the semiconductor industry, serving as the primary channel material. The evolution of semiconductor device structures has been developed from planar designs to the advent of more advanced architectures, including fully-depleted silicon-on-insulator (FDSOI) and fin-field-effecttransistors (FinFETs). However, the continuation of Moore's Law and the constant push to scale down device dimensions, has resulted in a surge in research towards alternative materials, including 2D materials. Commonly studied 2D materials include transition metal dichalcogenides (TMDs) and graphene, which offer intriguing prospects for the next generation nanoscale devices.

To advance the understanding of transport properties in nanoscale devices based on both silicon and 2D materials, and to explore their potential applications in the realm of spintronics, my Ph.D. works started with an investigation on the nanoscale FDSOI devices, which was assisted by the Landauer theory and the virtual source (VS) model. Here, commercial ultra-thin nanoscale FDSOI devices were characterized from room temperature (300 K) down to cryogenic temperatures (10 K). My research focused intently on the quasi-ballistic transport regime and considered the significant impact of the backgate biasing.

Through the course of my study on FDSOI, different components of resistance were analyzed including the channel, ballistic, and series resistance as we vary channel length and temperature. Our experimental analysis was thoroughly supported by mathematical modeling, which allowed to calculate and study mobility as a function of temperature and channel length in the quasi-ballistic regime. In parallel, other key parameters related to transport were also extracted, including mean-free-path and the ballistic ratio. My research uncovered the characteristics of quasi-ballistic transport in these nanoscale FDSOI devices, indicating the potential for high performance, especially at low temperatures compared to bulk CMOS FETs. The temperature-dependent analysis provided valuable insights into the contributions of both phonon and ionized impurity scattering to the overall resistance. Moreover, I proposed new techniques to account for temperature and back-gate bias in the virtual-source (VS) modeling approach for nanoscale transistors. These resulted in good alignment between VS model and experimental data across various range of temperatures and back-gate bias, underscoring the robustness and applicability of the proposed modeling approach.

While the study was primarily conducted on silicon-based devices, its implications extend beyond this realm. The knowledge gained from studying nanoscale devices with bulk semiconducting channels (i.e., silicon), paves the way for a deeper understanding of devices using emerging materials, such as graphene, which exhibits exceptionally high mobility. Accordingly, nanoscale graphene-based devices also function within the ballistic or quasi-ballistic regime.

The transition from silicon-based structures to 2D material-based structures represents a shift in the semiconductor landscape soon. This transition has led to a new focus on the development of graphene-based electrical and spintronic devices, such as non-local lateral spin valves (LSVs). Within this context, my research investigated key components of graphene-based LSVs, including the graphene channel, ohmic contacts, and tunneling barriers, with a view to advancing the understanding of the behavior and performance of the graphene-based spintronics.

Initial investigations into graphene-based FETs revealed the impact from trapped charges at the interface between the graphene channel and the dielectric film. These trapped charges induced a pronounced influence on the transport properties, raising questions about the nature of this impact. My research started on a thorough exploration of this effect, with a particular emphasis on graphene FETs with thin high-k gate dielectrics (HfO₂). This detailed analysis uncovered the buildup of the charge impurities locating at the gate dielectric material interfacing the graphene channel. These impurities, in turn, had impact on the electrostatic phenomena and contributed to the degradation of transport (i.e., degraded mobility/conductivity). The findings pointed to the presence of trapped-charge-induced (charged impurity) scattering, which serves as a significant factor degrading the conductivity, mobility, and mean-free-path in graphene-based devices. This finding has contributed to the development of graphene FETs.

In addition to the impact of trapped charge impurities in the graphene-based channel, my research also investigated other pivotal components of LSV devices, including contact resistance, channel resistance, and tunneling barriers. The objective was to uncover and mitigate the challenges related to conductivity mismatch, which is a common issue in spintronic devices. The study revealed that resistance of the graphene channel was larger in comparison to the resistance of ohmic contacts between the metal and graphene. This observation highlighted the existence of the conductivity mismatch issue in graphenebased LSV devices.

Pushing towards more efficient graphene-based LSV and other spintronic applications led me to investigate tunneling barriers with ferromagnetic contacts, which provide a barrier to help increase contact resistance and resolve the mismatch with the graphene channel resistance. I examined the performance of two specific materials -titanium dioxide (TiO₂) and hexagonal Boron Nitride (h-BN) as tunneling barriers with cobalt (Co) contacts. The results of the investigations indicated that a 1 nm TiO₂ tunneling barrier in conjunction with Co ferromagnetic contacts exhibited a consistent resistance level that matched closely with the resistance of the graphene channel. This finding has significant implications for the development of graphene-based LSV devices and other spintronic applications, positioning them as promising candidates for future memory and logic device technology.

In summary, my comprehensive investigations have led to a more profound understanding of the transport properties and performance characteristics of nanoscale devices, spanning both silicon-based and 2D material-based systems. The deeper understanding of the quasi-ballistic charge transport in nanoscale FDSOI devices and the impact of the trapped charge impurities in graphene-based devices are noteworthy contributions to the field of semiconductor research. Furthermore, my work in investigating the conductivity mismatch issue in spintronic devices brings me a step closer to studying the graphene-based LSVs and other spintronic applications.

These advancements have significant implications for future memory and logic device technology, opening doors to the development of more efficient and effective devices. As
we look ahead, my Ph.D. research presented here underscores the profound interesting and unique properties of the novel materials and the device design on the performance of emerging nanoscale technologies. It offers valuable insights for future advancements in the field of semiconductor research and provides a robust foundation for continued exploration into the potential of 2D materials in the world of electronics and spintronics.

REFERENCES

¹ A. Majumdar, and D.A. Antoniadis, "Analysis of Carrier Transport in Short-Channel MOSFETs," IEEE Trans Electron Devices **61**(2), 351–358 (2014).

² K. Cheng, and A. Khakifirooz, "Fully depleted SOI (FDSOI) technology," Science China Information Sciences **59**(6), 061402 (2016).

³ D.H. Triyoso, R. Carter, J. Kluth, K. Hempel, M. Gribelyuk, L. Kang, A. Kumar, B. Mulfinger, P. Javorka, K. Punchihewa, A. Child, T. McArdle, J. Holt, S. Straub, R. Sporer, and P. Chen, in *2016 International Conference on IC Design and Technology (ICICDT)* (IEEE, 2016), pp. 1–4.

⁴ A. Beckers, F. Jazaeri, H. Bohuslavskyi, L. Hutin, S. De Franceschi, and C. Enz, "Characterization and modeling of 28-nm FDSOI CMOS technology down to cryogenic temperatures," Solid State Electron **159**, 106–115 (2019).

⁵ B.C. Paz, M. Cassé, S. Haendler, A. Juge, E. Vincent, P. Galy, F. Arnaud, G. Ghibaudo, M. Vinet, S. de Franceschi, T. Meunier, and F. Gaillard, "Front and back channels coupling and transport on 28 nm FD-SOI MOSFETs down to liquid-He temperature," Solid State Electron **186**, 108071 (2021).

⁶ H. Huang, B. Jiang, X. Zou, X. Zhao, and L. Liao, "Black phosphorus electronics," Sci Bull (Beijing) **64**(15), 1067–1079 (2019).

⁷ N. Patel, and Y. Agrawal, "A Literature Review on Next Generation Graphene Interconnects," Journal of Circuits, Systems and Computers **28**(09), 1930008 (2019).

⁸ K. S. Novoselov et al, "Electric Field Effect in Atomically Thin Carbon Films," **306**(5696), 666–669 (2004).

⁹ J. Zhu, D. Yang, Z. Yin, Q. Yan, and H. Zhang, "Graphene and Graphene-Based Materials for Energy Storage Applications," Small **10**(17), 3480–3498 (2014).

¹⁰ H. Shen, L. Zhang, M. Liu, and Z. Zhang, "Biomedical Applications of Graphene," Theranostics **2**(3), 283–294 (2012).

¹¹ R. Raccichini, A. Varzi, S. Passerini, and B. Scrosati, "The role of graphene for electrochemical energy storage," Nat Mater **14**(3), 271–279 (2015).

¹² A. Scidà, S. Haque, E. Treossi, A. Robinson, S. Smerzi, S. Ravesi, S. Borini, and V. Palermo, "Application of graphene-based flexible antennas in consumer electronic devices," Materials Today **21**(3), 223–230 (2018).

¹³ N. Norhakim, H.F. Hawari, and Z.A. Burhanudin, "Assessing the Figures of Merit of Graphene-Based Radio Frequency Electronics: A Review of GFET in RF Technology," IEEE Access **10**, 17030–17042 (2022).

¹⁴ I. Meric, N. Baklitskaya, P. Kim, and K.L. Shepard, in 2008 *IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting* (IEEE, 2008), pp. 1–4.

¹⁵ T.F. Schranghamer, A. Oberoi, and S. Das, "Graphene memristive synapses for high precision neuromorphic computing," Nat Commun **11**(1), 5474 (2020).

¹⁶ M.T. Sharbati, Y. Du, J. Torres, N.D. Ardolino, M. Yun, and F. Xiong, "Low-Power, Electrochemically Tunable Graphene Synapses for Neuromorphic Computing," Advanced Materials **30**(36), 1802353 (2018).

¹⁷ S. Lee, Y. Lee, S.M. Kim, and E.B. Song, "Fully-transparent graphene charge-trap memory device with large memory window and long-term retention," Carbon N Y **127**, 70–76 (2018).

¹⁸ R. Oshio, and S. Souma, "An interface trap charge model for simulation of graphenebased synaptic field effect transistors," J Appl Phys **131**(2), (2022).

¹⁹ J.C. Boettger, and S.B. Trickey, "First-principles calculation of the spin-orbit splitting in graphene," Phys Rev B **75**(12), 121402 (2007).

²⁰ M. Gmitra, S. Konschuh, C. Ertler, C. Ambrosch-Draxl, and J. Fabian, "Bandstructure topologies of graphene: Spin-orbit coupling effects from first principles," Phys Rev B **80**(23), 235431 (2009).

²¹ E.C. Ahn, "2D materials for spintronic devices," NPJ 2D Mater Appl **4**(1), 17 (2020).

²² W. Han, R.K. Kawakami, M. Gmitra, and J. Fabian, "Graphene spintronics," Nat Nanotechnol **9**(10), 794–807 (2014).

 23 M. Lundstrom, "Elementary scattering theory of the Si MOSFET," IEEE Electron Device Letters **18**(7), 361–363 (1997).

²⁴ L. Wei, O. Mysore, and D. Antoniadis, "Virtual-Source-Based Self-Consistent Current and Charge FET Models: From Ballistic to Drift-Diffusion Velocity-Saturation Operation," IEEE Trans Electron Devices **59**(5), 1263–1271 (2012).

²⁵ R. Carter, J. Mazurier, L. Pirro, J.-U. Sachse, P. Baars, J. Faul, C. Grass, G. Grasshoff, P. Javorka, T. Kammler, A. Preusse, S. Nielsen, T. Heller, J. Schmidt, H. Niebojewski, P.-Y. Chou, E. Smith, E. Erben, C. Metze, C. Bao, Y. Andee, I. Aydin, S. Morvan, J. Bernard, E. Bourjot, T. Feudel, D. Harame, R. Nelluri, H.-J. Thees, L. M-Meskamp, J. Kluth, R. Mulfinger, M. Rashed, R. Taylor, C. Weintraub, J. Hoentschel, M.

Vinet, J. Schaeffer, and B. Rice, in 2016 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM) (IEEE, 2016), pp. 2.2.1-2.2.4.

²⁶ A. Beckers, F. Jazaeri, H. Bohuslavskyi, L. Hutin, S. De Franceschi, and C. Enz, in 2018 Joint International EUROSOI Workshop and International Conference on Ultimate Integration on Silicon (EUROSOI-ULIS) (IEEE, 2018), pp. 1–4.

²⁷ B. Kazemi Esfeh, N. Planes, M. Haond, J.-P. Raskin, D. Flandre, and V. Kilchytska, "28 nm FDSOI analog and RF Figures of Merit at N2 cryogenic temperatures," Solid State Electron **159**, 77–82 (2019).

²⁸ B. Cardoso Paz, M. Casse, C. Theodorou, G. Ghibaudo, T. Kammler, L. Pirro, M. Vinet, S. de Franceschi, T. Meunier, and F. Gaillard, "Performance and Low-Frequency Noise of 22-nm FDSOI Down to 4.2 K for Cryogenic Applications," IEEE Trans Electron Devices **67**(11), 4563–4567 (2020).

²⁹ W. Chakraborty, K.A. Aabrar, J. Gomez, R. Saligram, A. Raychowdhury, P. Fay, and S. Datta, "Cryogenic RF CMOS on 22nm FDSOI Platform with Record fT=495GHz and fMAX=497GHz," 2021 Symposium on VLSI Technology, (2021).

³⁰ S. Bonen, U. Alakusu, Y. Duan, M.J. Gong, M.S. Dadash, L. Lucci, D.R. Daughton, G.C. Adam, S. Iordanescu, M. Pasteanu, I. Giangu, H. Jia, L.E. Gutierrez, W.T. Chen, N. Messaoudi, D. Harame, A. Muller, R.R. Mansour, P. Asbeck, and S.P. Voinigescu, "Cryogenic Characterization of 22nm FDSOI CMOS Technology for Quantum Computing ICs," IEEE Electron Device Letters, 1–1 (2018).

³¹ E. Charbon, F. Sebastiano, A. Vladimirescu, H. Homulle, S. Visser, L. Song, and R.M. Incandela, in *2016 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM)* (IEEE, 2016), pp. 13.5.1-13.5.4.

³² R.M. Incandela, L. Song, H. Homulle, E. Charbon, A. Vladimirescu, and F. Sebastiano, "Characterization and Compact Modeling of Nanometer CMOS Transistors at Deep-Cryogenic Temperatures," IEEE Journal of the Electron Devices Society **6**, 996–1006 (2018).

³³ I.S. Esqueda, and C.D. Cress, in *IEEE Trans Nucl Sci* (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2015), pp. 2906–2911.

³⁴ J.-B. Henry, A. Cros, J. Rosa, Q. Rafhay, and G. Ghibaudo, in 2016 International Conference on Microelectronic Test Structures (ICMTS) (IEEE, 2016), pp. 70–74.

³⁵ J.-B. Henry, A. Cros, J. Rosa, Q. Rafhay, and G. Ghibaudo, in 2017 International Conference of Microelectronic Test Structures (ICMTS) (IEEE, 2017), pp. 1–5.

 36 M.S. Lundstrom, and D.A. Antoniadis, "Compact Models and the Physics of Nanoscale FETs," IEEE Trans Electron Devices **61**(2), 225–233 (2014).

³⁷ R. Raccichini, A. Varzi, S. Passerini, and B. Scrosati, "The role of graphene for electrochemical energy storage," Nat Mater **14**(3), 271–279 (2015).

³⁸ N. Norhakim, H.F. Hawari, and Z.A. Burhanudin, "Assessing the Figures of Merit of Graphene-Based Radio Frequency Electronics: A Review of GFET in RF Technology," IEEE Access **10**, 17030–17042 (2022).

³⁹ W. Fu, L. Jiang, E.P. van Geest, L.M.C. Lima, and G.F. Schneider, "Sensing at the Surface of Graphene Field-Effect Transistors," Advanced Materials **29**(6), 1603610 (2017).

⁴⁰ B. Zhan, C. Li, J. Yang, G. Jenkins, W. Huang, and X. Dong, "Graphene Field-Effect Transistor and Its Application for Electronic Sensing," Small, n/a-n/a (2014).

⁴¹ Y. Zheng, G.-X. Ni, C.-T. Toh, M.-G. Zeng, S.-T. Chen, K. Yao, and B. Özyilmaz, "Gate-controlled nonvolatile graphene-ferroelectric memory," Appl Phys Lett **94**(16), 163505 (2009).

⁴² X. Wang, W. Xie, and J.-B. Xu, "Graphene Based Non-Volatile Memory Devices," Advanced Materials **26**(31), 5496–5503 (2014).

⁴³ I.S. Esqueda, X. Yan, C. Rutherglen, A. Kane, T. Cain, P. Marsh, Q. Liu, K. Galatsis, H. Wang, and C. Zhou, "Aligned Carbon Nanotube Synaptic Transistors for Large-Scale Neuromorphic Computing," ACS Nano **12**(7), 7352–7361 (2018).

⁴⁴ I.S. Esqueda, C.D. Cress, Y. Che, Y. Cao, and C. Zhou, "Charge trapping in aligned single-walled carbon nanotube arrays induced by ionizing radiation exposure," J Appl Phys **115**(5), 54506 (2014).

⁴⁵ M. Li, Z. Xiong, S. Shao, L. Shao, S.-T. Han, H. Wang, and J. Zhao, "Multimodal optoelectronic neuromorphic electronics based on lead-free perovskite-mixed carbon nanotubes," Carbon N Y **176**, 592–601 (2021).

⁴⁶ J. Li, P. Dwivedi, K.S. Kumar, T. Roy, K.E. Crawford, and J. Thomas, "Growing Perovskite Quantum Dots on Carbon Nanotubes for Neuromorphic Optoelectronic Computing," Adv Electron Mater **7**(1), 2000535 (2021).

⁴⁷ A.M. Shen, C.-L. Chen, K. Kim, B. Cho, A. Tudor, and Y. Chen, "Analog Neuromorphic Module Based on Carbon Nanotube Synapses," ACS Nano **7**(7), 6117–6122 (2013).

⁴⁸ J.B. Cui, R. Sordan, M. Burghard, and K. Kern, "Carbon nanotube memory devices of high charge storage stability," Appl Phys Lett **81**(17), 3260–3262 (2002).

⁴⁹ T. Rueckes, K. Kim, E. Joselevich, G.Y. Tseng, C.-L. Cheung, and C.M. Lieber, "Carbon Nanotube-Based Nonvolatile Random Access Memory for Molecular Computing," Science (1979) **289**(5476), 94–97 (2000).

⁵⁰ G. Zhou, F. Al Mamun, J. Yang-Scharlotta, D. Vasileska, and I.S. Esqueda, "Cryogenic Characterization and Analysis of Nanoscale SOI FETs Using a Virtual Source Model," IEEE Trans Electron Devices **69**(3), 1306–1312 (2022).

⁵¹ X. Gu, Z. Fan, H. Bao, and C.Y. Zhao, "Revisiting phonon-phonon scattering in single-layer graphene," Phys Rev B **100**(6), 064306 (2019).

⁵² E.H. Hwang, and S. Das Sarma, "Acoustic phonon scattering limited carrier mobility in two-dimensional extrinsic graphene," Phys Rev B **77**(11), 115449 (2008).

⁵³ P. Lichtenberger, O. Morandi, and F. Schürrer, "High-field transport and optical phonon scattering in graphene," Phys Rev B **84**(4), 045406 (2011).

⁵⁴ E.A. Quezada-Lopez, F. Joucken, H. Chen, A. Lara, J.L. Davenport, K. Hellier, T. Taniguchi, K. Watanabe, S. Carter, A.P. Ramirez, and J. Velasco, "Persistent and reversible electrostatic control of doping in graphene/hexagonal boron nitride heterostructures," J Appl Phys **127**(4), (2020).

⁵⁵ P. Wang, C. Perini, A. O'Hara, B.R. Tuttle, E.X. Zhang, H. Gong, L. Dong, C. Liang, R. Jiang, W. Liao, D.M. Fleetwood, R.D. Schrimpf, E.M. Vogel, and S.T. Pantelides, "Radiation-Induced Charge Trapping and Low-Frequency Noise of Graphene Transistors," IEEE Trans Nucl Sci **65**(1), 156–163 (2018).

⁵⁶ L. Liao, and X. Duan, "Graphene–dielectric integration for graphene transistors," Materials Science and Engineering: R: Reports **70**(3–6), 354–370 (2010).

⁵⁷ S. Vaziri, M. Östling, and M.C. Lemme, "A Hysteresis-Free High-k Dielectric and Contact Resistance Considerations for Graphene Field Effect Transistors," ECS Trans **41**(7), 165–171 (2011).

⁵⁸ S. Kim, J. Nah, I. Jo, D. Shahrjerdi, L. Colombo, Z. Yao, E. Tutuc, and S.K. Banerjee, "Realization of a high mobility dual-gated graphene field-effect transistor with Al2O3 dielectric," Appl Phys Lett **94**(6), 062107 (2009).

⁵⁹ C. Frydendahl, S.R.K.C. Indukuri, M. Grajower, N. Mazurski, J. Shappir, and U. Levy, "Graphene Photo Memtransistor Based on CMOS Flash Memory Technology with Neuromorphic Applications," ACS Photonics **8**(9), 2659–2665 (2021).

⁶⁰ D. Mao, S. Wang, S. Peng, D. Zhang, J. Shi, X. Huang, M. Asif, and Z. Jin, "The two timescales in the charge trapping mechanism for the hysteresis behavior in graphene field effect transistors," Journal of Materials Science: Materials in Electronics **27**(9), 9847–9852 (2016).

⁶¹ S. Thiele, and F. Schwierz, "Modeling of the steady state characteristics of largearea graphene field-effect transistors," J Appl Phys **110**(3), 034506 (2011).

⁶² M. Lundstrom, and J.-H. Rhew, "A Landauer Approach to Nanoscale MOSFETs," J Comput Electron **1**(4), 481–489 (2002).

⁶³ J. Yan, and M.S. Fuhrer, "Correlated Charged Impurity Scattering in Graphene," Phys Rev Lett **107**(20), 206601 (2011).

⁶⁴ S. Xiao, J.-H. Chen, S. Adam, E.D. Williams, and M.S. Fuhrer, "Charged impurity scattering in bilayer graphene," Phys Rev B **82**(4), 041406 (2010).

⁶⁵ J.-H. Chen, C. Jang, S. Adam, M.S. Fuhrer, E.D. Williams, and M. Ishigami, "Charged-impurity scattering in graphene," Nat Phys **4**(5), 377–381 (2008).

⁶⁶ H.K. Kim, A.S. Hyla, P. Winget, H. Li, C.M. Wyss, A.J. Jordan, F.A. Larrain, J.P. Sadighi, C. Fuentes-Hernandez, B. Kippelen, J.-L. Brédas, S. Barlow, and S.R. Marder, "Reduction of the Work Function of Gold by N-Heterocyclic Carbenes," Chemistry of Materials **29**(8), 3403–3411 (2017).

⁶⁷ E. Martinez, C. Leroux, N. Benedetto, C. Gaumer, M. Charbonnier, C. Licitra, C. Guedj, F. Fillot, and S. Lhostis, "Electrical and Chemical Properties of the HfO[sub 2]/SiO[sub 2]/Si Stack: Impact of HfO[sub 2] Thickness and Thermal Budget," J Electrochem Soc **156**(8), G120 (2009).

⁶⁸ S.M. Song, J.K. Park, O.J. Sul, and B.J. Cho, "Determination of Work Function of Graphene under a Metal Electrode and Its Role in Contact Resistance," Nano Lett **12**(8), 3887–3892 (2012).

⁶⁹ E.H. Hwang, S. Adam, and S. Das Sarma, "Carrier Transport in Two-Dimensional Graphene Layers," Phys Rev Lett **98**(18), 186806 (2007).

⁷⁰ N.H. Patoary, J. Xie, G. Zhou, F. Al Mamun, M. Sayyad, S. Tongay, and I.S. Esqueda, "Improvements in 2D p-type WSe2 transistors towards ultimate CMOS scaling," Sci Rep **13**(1), 3304 (2023).

⁷¹ A. Rahman, Jing Guo, S. Datta, and M.S. Lundstrom, "Theory of ballistic nanotransistors," IEEE Trans Electron Devices **50**(9), 1853–1864 (2003).

⁷² R. Landauer, "Spatial variation of currents and fields due to localized scatterers in metallic conduction," IBM J Res Dev **44**(1.2), 251–259 (2000).

⁷³ L. Mark, and J. Changwook, "Near-equilibrium transport: fundamentals and applications," Lessons from Nanoscience: A Lecture Note Series **2**, 1–11 (2013).

⁷⁴ S. Datta, *Electronic Transport in Mesoscopic Systems* (Cambridge University Press, 1995).

⁷⁵ K. Raseong, W. Xufeng, and L. Mark, "Notes on fermi-dirac integrals," ArXiv Preprint ArXiv:0811.0116., (2008).

⁷⁶ R. Kim, S. Datta, and M.S. Lundstrom, "Influence of dimensionality on thermoelectric device performance," J Appl Phys **105**(3), 34506 (2009).

⁷⁷ J. Chen, T. Shi, T. Cai, T. Xu, L. Sun, X. Wu, and D. Yu, "Self healing of defected graphene," Appl Phys Lett **102**(10), (2013).

⁷⁸ F. Giannazzo, S. Sonde, R. Lo Nigro, E. Rimini, and V. Raineri, "Mapping the Density of Scattering Centers Limiting the Electron Mean Free Path in Graphene," Nano Lett 11(11), 4612–4618 (2011).

⁷⁹ G.M. Rutter, J.N. Crain, N.P. Guisinger, T. Li, P.N. First, and J.A. Stroscio, "Scattering and Interference in Epitaxial Graphene," Science (1979) **317**(5835), 219–222 (2007).

⁸⁰ D.K. Ferry, "Short-range potential scattering and its effect on graphene mobility," J Comput Electron **12**(2), 76–84 (2013).

⁸¹ S. Sugahara, and J. Nitta, "Spin-Transistor Electronics: An Overview and Outlook," Proceedings of the IEEE **98**(12), 2124–2154 (2010).

⁸² M. Piquemal-Banci, R. Galceran, S. Caneva, M.-B. Martin, R.S. Weatherup, P.R. Kidambi, K. Bouzehouane, S. Xavier, A. Anane, F. Petroff, A. Fert, J. Robertson, S. Hofmann, B. Dlubak, and P. Seneor, "Magnetic tunnel junctions with monolayer hexagonal boron nitride tunnel barriers," Appl Phys Lett **108**(10), (2016).